Click here to view this article's online features:

ANNUAL Further

- Download figures as PPT slides
 Navigate linked references
- Navigate linked refer
 Download citations
- · Explore related articles
- Search keywords

Understanding the Chemistry and Biology of Glycosylation with Glycan Synthesis

Larissa Krasnova¹ and Chi-Huey Wong^{1,2}

¹Department of Chemistry, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, California 92037; email: wong@scripps.edu

²Genomics Research Center, Academia Sinica, Taipei, Taiwan, 115

Annu. Rev. Biochem. 2016. 85:599-630

First published online as a Review in Advance on April 25, 2016

The Annual Review of Biochemistry is online at biochem.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-034420

Copyright © 2016 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

glycan, glycobiology, glycoprotein, enzymatic, synthesis, vaccine

Abstract

Glycoscience research has been significantly impeded by the complex compositions of the glycans present in biological molecules and the lack of convenient tools suitable for studying the glycosylation process and its function. Polysaccharides and glycoconjugates are not encoded directly by genes; instead, their biosynthesis relies on the differential expression of carbohydrate enzymes, resulting in heterogeneous mixtures of glycoforms, each with a distinct physiological activity. Access to well-defined structures is required for functional study, and this has been provided by chemical and enzymatic synthesis and by the engineering of glycosylation pathways. This review covers general methods for preparing glycans commonly found in mammalian systems and applying them to the synthesis of therapeutically significant glycoconjugates (glycosaminoglycans, glycoproteins, glycolipids, glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins) and the development of carbohydrate-based vaccines.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	600
METHODS OF GLYCAN SYNTHESIS	601
Chemical Synthesis	601
Programmable and Automated Synthesis of Oligosaccharides	604
Chemoenzymatic Synthesis	604
SYNTHESIS OF GLYCAN TARGETS	606
Glycosaminoglycans	606
Glycoproteins	610
Synthesis of N-Glycans and N-Glycoproteins	612
Glycosylated Proteins for Structural Studies	616
Synthesis of O-Glycans and O-Glycoproteins	617
Glycolipids	619
Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Proteins	621
CONCLUSIONS	622

INTRODUCTION

Carbohydrates, together with nucleic acids, proteins, and lipids, are the primary constituents of cells. Among these four major classes of biomolecules, carbohydrates are the least understood with regard to their biological function, mainly due to the lack of effective tools and methods for their study. Nevertheless, during the past 25 years, impressive progress has been achieved in our understanding of the biology of glycosylation (1). In addition to participating in metabolic events and other intracellular processes, oligosaccharides are often conjugated to lipids and proteins displayed on the cell surface and are involved in various intercellular communications and carbohydrate-mediated recognition processes. Because the biosynthesis of glycans depends on the expression of genome-encoded enzymes, the composition of cell-surface carbohydrates is specific to the cell type and alters as the cell undergoes developmental, physiological, and pathological changes. Not surprisingly, determining the biological functions of glycans is a complex task, and it requires the development of effective methods of glycan analysis and synthesis. Thus, glycobiology, initially formed at the interface of chemistry and biochemistry, has expanded to encompass areas of molecular and cellular biology, as well as physiology, and is expected to continue its integration into a variety of biomedical disciplines (2).

In addition to making fundamental contributions, research in glycoscience also has implications for biotechnology and medicine. Various carbohydrate scaffolds are found in a number of prescription drugs, which include nucleosides and macrolides, enzyme inhibitors (e.g., zanamivir), oligo- and polysaccharides (e.g., acarbose, heparan sulfate, heparin, and fondaparinux), vaccines, and therapeutic glycoproteins (e.g., bevacizumab, erythropoietin, and darbepoetin alfa) (3, 4). Although carbohydrate antigens and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) isolated from natural sources have been used in the clinic, their heterogeneity could be a liability, as illustrated by the case of heparin sulfate contaminated with oversulfated chondroitin sulfates, which led to nearly 100 deaths (5). Fortunately, current chemical and enzymatic methods allow the generation of structurally defined oligosaccharides, glycoproteins, and other glycoconjugates. The approved synthetic carbohydrate-based vaccine against *Haemophilus influenzae* type b infection is the first successful example of this trend (6).

Heparin: a highly sulfated derivative of heparan sulfate; a commonly used anticoagulant

Antigen: recognized by the immune system as a foreign structure, thus activating the cascade of events that leads to antigenspecific antibody production

Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs): linear

polysaccharides consisting of repeating units containing UA-HexN and Gal-GlcNAc Despite impressive progress in developing methods of oligosaccharide synthesis, which has been reviewed recently (7–11), the field is still expanding, responding to the ever-growing demands of glycoscience. A major bottleneck in glycoscience research is the lack of homogeneous forms of glycans and the shortage of reliable and scalable methods of glycan synthesis. This review covers general aspects of the chemoenzymatic synthesis of glycans commonly found in mammalian systems and their application to the synthesis of GAGs, glycoproteins, glycolipids, glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins, and carbohydrate-based vaccines. The biosynthesis of different classes of oligosaccharides is briefly discussed to provide background information on the structural diversity of glycans and the enzymatic pathways required for target synthesis. Along the way, readers will be referred to more specialized reviews, and the most prominent contributions to the field will be discussed.

METHODS OF GLYCAN SYNTHESIS

Chemical Synthesis

Carbohydrate chemistry is an old discipline, which traces its origin to the pioneering work of Emil Fisher (11a) on the interconversion of monosaccharides and the determination of glucose (Glc) structure and its isomers. For some time, the field was mainly driven by the challenge of synthesis, rather than by practicality. Difficulties associated with stereoselective glycosidic bond formation and protecting group (PG) manipulations have hindered access to these biomolecules and limited our knowledge of glycosylation in biology. Nonetheless, when the need for carbohydrate probes emerged, synthetic chemists were equipped with the basic set of PGs, leaving groups (LGs), and promoters, which has been substantially expanded over the past 25 years. In this review, we outline the basic principles behind oligosaccharide synthesis. More detailed discussion can be found in a number of reviews covering methods of glycosidic bond formation (12, 13) and strategies for glycan assembly (8, 14, 15).

One of the pivotal challenges of oligosaccharide synthesis is selective glycosidic bond formation, which can proceed with either *trans* or *cis* regioselectivity between the substituents at C-1 and C-2 (**Figure 1**). The stereoselectivity of *O*-glycosylation depends on multiple factors; however, the structural features of the glycosyl donor and PGs have the most prominent roles in the reaction's outcome. Apart from discriminating the faces of the anomeric center by steric constraints (e.g., $R^2 = OCHPh_2$, **Figure 1**) (16), PGs can electronically participate in the stabilization of the glycosyl cation intermediates. In addition, cyclic PGs at remote positions can control stereoselectivity by imposing conformational constraints. Although there is no universal method for synthesizing diversely substituted saccharides, certain procedures designed for specific carbohydrate scaffolds can deliver a high degree of stereocontrol. The most effective strategies are summarized in **Figure 1**.

The classic concept of neighboring group participation usually refers to the 2-O-acyl group and analogs that can participate in stabilizing the oxocarbenium ion via an acetoxonium-type intermediate, leading to *trans* selectivity (**Figure 1***a*). Synthesis of the *cis* glycosides can be accomplished in the presence of nonassisting groups and usually results in a mixture of isomers; however, the concept of neighboring group participation has been now expanded to the construction of 1,2-*cis* glucoses and 1,2-*cis* galactoses (**Figure 1***a*) (17). The chiral auxiliary at C-2, the (1*S*)-(phenylthiomethyl)benzyl PG, stabilizes the oxocarbenium ion via the *trans*-decalin sulfonium intermediate and effectively prevents the *trans* face attack by the glycosyl acceptor.

The new and highly efficient solution to β -mannosidic linkages relies on the remote stereocontrol provided by the 4,6-O-benzylidene acetal PG (Figure 1b) (18). In a similar manner,



Chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides depends on reliable glycosylation methods, which can selectively provide 1,2-*cis* or 1,2-*trans* linkages. Structural features and protecting groups of the glycosyl donor are used to control the stereoselectivity of chemical glycosylation. Abbreviations: Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; GlcNAc, *N*-acetylglucosamine; Man, mannose.

the 4,6-*O*-silyl acetal group offers excellent *cis* selectivity in the α -Gal (galactose) and α -GalNAc (*N*-acetylgalactosamine) series (19).

Locking the C-2 and C-3 substituents in the oxazolidinone ring gives good *cis* selectivity for the aminoglycosyl derivatives as the result of acid-catalyzed anomerization (**Figure 1***c*) (20–22). Among all glycosylations, α -sialylation is regarded as the most difficult transformation, due to the poor control of stereoselectivity at the tertiary anomeric center and the absence of neighboring participating groups. A solution to this challenge has come in the form of cyclic carbonate and carbamate protection (18) used together with the α -phosphate LG (**Figure 1***d*) (23), which ensures high α -selectivity. This method has been successfully used to prepare sialoside arrays and to synthesize α -(2,9)oligosialic acids and *Neisseria meningitidis* capsular oligosaccharides for vaccine development (24, 25).

Another factor that controls stereoselectivity in glycosylation is the nature of the glycosyl acceptor, which in most cases cannot be easily changed, therefore further optimization can be accomplished by tuning the reactivity of the LG, the choice of the promoter, the order of addition, and the reaction temperature, pressure, and concentration. The effects of exogenous nucleophilic additives and media on glycosylation reactions have been extensively studied and recently reviewed (26).



Strategies used for oligosaccharide assembly: (*a*) chemoselective glycosylation with different LGs and promoters for stepwise and orthogonal one-pot procedures, (*b*) reactivity-based, programmable one-pot synthesis, and (*c*) solid-phase automated synthesis of Globo H. Abbreviations: Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; Glc, glucose; LG, leaving group; RRV, relative reactivity values.

In addition to addressing the problem of stereoselective *O*-glycosylation, notable effort has been directed toward developing a simple, yet efficient, method of glycan assembly. One of the major advances in this area has been the introduction of a one-pot procedure (**Figure 2***a*,*b*). The original one-pot procedure reported by Raghavan & Kahne (27) took advantage of the different reactivities of LGs; later variations of one-pot procedures are based on the PG-controlled reactivity of glycosyl donors. Building on the observation that glycosyl donors with electron-donating PGs undergo faster hydrolysis than glycosyl donors equipped with electron-withdrawing groups, Fraser-Reid and colleagues (28) formulated the concept of the armed–disarmed glycosyl donors for carbohydrate synthesis, which was further expanded to address the stereoelectronic and torsional effects of PGs (29, 30). The first quantitative assessment of the PG-based reactivity of glycosyl donors was performed by the Ley group (31).

The concept of one-pot glycosylation has further led to the development of the iterative onepot reaction (32) and the orthogonal one-pot procedure (15, 33). Other notable examples include one-pot protocols for synthesizing suitably protected monosaccharides (34, 35). **One-pot:** refers to the multistep reaction performed in a single setup, thus eliminating the need to isolate intermediates and shortening the experimental time frame

Programmable and Automated Synthesis of Oligosaccharides

The complexity of the chemical synthesis of glycans, especially in PG and LG manipulations, represents a major impediment in the field. Although the one-pot strategy has proven to be quite efficient for synthesizing complex oligosaccharides, its utility is restricted to those with expertise in carbohydrate chemistry. Anticipating the transformation of highly specialized oligosaccharide synthesis into a routine and automated process, a programmable strategy has been introduced by the Wong group (**Figure 2b**) (36). A software program called OptiMer has been designed to aid chemists in selecting building blocks for the one-pot assembly of oligosaccharides. The selection and assessment of the PGs that affect the anomeric center reactivity of thioglycosides were determined and expressed as relative reactivity values. The database contains more than 400 building blocks and has been used to prepare various oligosaccharides (from tri- to hexa-), including colon cancer antigen Lewis Y (Le^y), sialyl Lewis X (sLe^x), fucosyl GM₁, heparan pentasaccharide, and the embryonic stem cell surface carbohydrates Lc₄ and IV²Fuc-Lc₄ (8). As an example, the Globo H antigen was assembled in an efficient manner using the one-pot procedure (**Figure 2b**) (37), a considerable improvement over the original multistep synthesis.

Automated oligosaccharide synthesis on solid supports also holds great promise; the most advanced prototype machine, developed by the Seeberger group (14, 38), utilizes the concept of a peptide synthesizer. The logic behind automated solid-phase synthesis can be illustrated with the preparation of Globo H (Figure 2c) (39). After the initial attachment of the acceptor to the solid support through an orthogonally cleavable linker, the repetition of deprotectioncoupling-capping cycles is performed until the desired oligosaccharide is assembled. Some of the notable targets synthesized by this technology include Le^y and Le^x antigens; N-linked glycan cores; short glycopeptides; heparan sulfate (HS), chondroitin sulfate (CS), and dermatan sulfate (DS) oligosaccharides; α-mannosides; and GPI glycolipids (14). The main drawbacks of the method are the need for selective deprotection after each coupling step and the high cost of the monomeric building blocks, which are used in excess to achieve high-yield conversions. These restrictions could be partially lifted with solution-phase methods using flow reactors (40), fluorous-tag-assisted techniques (41, 42), or reagent-free donor activation, as in the case of the electrochemical synthesis of oligoglucosamines (43). Moving forward, for the programmable and solid-phase methods to be routinely used for the synthesis of oligosaccharides, all required building blocks and equipment would have to become readily available to the community.

Yamada & Nishimura (44) applied solid-phase methods to biocatalytic transformations and developed a prototype of an automated glycosynthesizer, coined the artificial Golgi, with enzymes immobilized on solid supports (4, 8). Others have followed this direction with the development of digital microfluidic devices (45, 46).

Chemoenzymatic Synthesis

Although chemical methods are still commonly practiced in academic laboratories because they can quickly provide new structures for exploratory research, they cannot compete with the efficiency of the enzymatic methods used for industrial-scale synthesis in which there is no PG manipulation and the reaction proceeds in aqueous solution at ambient temperature. The repertoire of enzymes available for glycan synthesis and oligosaccharide modifications includes glycosyltransferases (GTs), glycosidases, phosphorylases, sulfotransferases, and others. This section outlines the general methods of enzymatic synthesis; in-depth discussion can be found in a number of reviews (8, 47, 48).

In contrast to the chemical synthesis of oligosaccharides, which relies heavily on PGs, nature's solution to stereospecific glycosyl bond formation is rooted in the choice of the LG and the

GT. The majority of mammalian GTs are of the Leloir type; GTs of this type utilize nine basic nucleotide-activated building blocks (donors) for the stepwise synthesis of complex oligosaccharides. Despite the high fidelity and efficiency of glycosylations with mammalian GTs, microbial GTs may be more suitable for in vitro synthesis because (*a*) the substrate flexibility of bacterial enzymes allows analog synthesis, (*b*) they have better solubility profiles, and (*c*) the ease of expression in *Escherichia coli* or other species enables preparative synthesis.

Early attempts to use GTs for the synthesis of oligosaccharides required expensive nucleotide donors and suffered from feedback inhibition caused by nucleoside–phosphate by-products. These challenges were resolved with the simple concept of nucleotide–phosphate recycling, reported by Whitesides and colleagues (49), as demonstrated by the large-scale preparation of *N*-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc) with a multienzyme system containing the in situ generation of uridine 5'-diphosphogalactose via uridine 5'-diphosphoglucose, from uridine 5'-triphosphate and glucose 6-phosphate. Since then, multienzymatic protocols for the regeneration of other nucleotide donors have been developed (50) and applied to the synthesis of sLe^x (51), sialyl-T antigen (52), disialyllacto-*N*-tetraose (53), heparin oligosaccharides (54), and hyaluronic acid (55). The power of the efficient recycling systems is best illustrated by the preparation of Globo H and SSEA4 antigens for use in cancer vaccine development (**Figure 3***a*) (56). Multigram synthesis was enabled by the sugar kinase-mediated generation of sugar-1-phosphate, which was subsequently converted to a sugar nucleotide. The fidelity of GTs ensures high yields, albeit with complexity in the reaction mixture.

In addition to its high efficiency, GT-mediated synthesis proceeds with excellent regio- and stereoselectivities, thus making GTs irreplaceable for the glycosylation of complex scaffolds, particularly the terminal sialylation of glycans (57, 58). Despite its potential, the availability of GTs poses the main obstacle to the widespread application of GT-mediated synthesis. Expanding the list of synthetically relevant GTs to cover all biologically significant glycosylic linkages and increasing the number of commercially available enzymes would undoubtedly benefit the field (47).

Another class of enzymes applied to glycan synthesis is glycosyl hydrolases (GHs), which are commonly used in the industrial processing of polysaccharides. Due to the reversibility of hydrolysis, certain conditions can be used to skew the equilibrium toward the glycosylation product. More than 2,500 GHs, targeting nearly every glycosidic bond, are known. Many GHs are commercially available or can easily be expressed in E. coli, making these catalysts synthetically attractive. Comprising more than 130 different families with diverse structures, the GHs feature a fairly conserved active site. Hydrolysis with GHs occur with high specificity and produce products with retention (Figure 4a,c) or inversion at the anomeric carbon. Structural variations within the binding site control the position of glycosidic bond cleavage; endo-acting enzymes have a continuous binding groove, which is blocked in the exo-glycosidases (GHs). GHs possess a well-defined site for donor recognition, but show a high degree of acceptor promiscuity. The challenges of synthesis with GHs include poor regioselectivity, the problem of self-condensation, and low yields due to competing hydrolysis. Thus, synthesis with native GHs under thermodynamic conditions generally gives low yields, but it could be synthetically viable under kinetic conditions, for example, with the use of activated glycosyl donors (fluorides, oxazolines), organic cosolvents, or excess of the glycosyl donor.

A major breakthrough in the area of enzymatic glycan synthesis was the introduction of *exo*-glycosyl synthase (GS) by Withers and colleagues (60). The mutation of the nucleophilic residue at the active site of GH abolishes its hydrolytic function and generates GS, which is suitable exclusively for synthesis (**Figure 4b**). In the past, many GHs used for synthetic purposes were of the *exo*-type; however, in the last decade *endo*-GH and *endo*-GS have become invaluable in the synthesis of homogeneous glycoproteins (**Figure 4d**).

Leloir

glycosyltransferases:

these use nucleotidephosphate-activated monosaccharides as glycosyl donors; non-Leloir glycosyltransferases recognize phosphate or polyprenyl phosphate donors, or starch-derived oligosaccharides

SSEA: stage-specific embryonic antigen

GHs: glycosidases, glycoside hydrolases or glycosyl hydrolases

Exo-glycosidases

(GHs): these break the glycosidic bond of terminal sugar residue (or disaccharide), whereas *endo*glycosidases hydrolyze the internal bond, thus cleaving more than one sugar

GS: glycosyl synthase



(*a*) Enzymatic multigram synthesis of Globo H and SSEA4 antigens with one-pot regeneration of sugar nucleotides. Examples of sugar nucleotide regeneration systems starting from a free sugar or sugar-1-phosphate to the sugar nucleotide for GT reaction: regeneration of (*b*) GDP-Fuc and (*c*) CMP-Neu5Ac. Abbreviations: CMP-Neu5Ac, cytidine-5'-monophospho-*N*-acetylneuraminic acid; GDP-Fuc, guanosine 5'-diphosphofucose; GT, glycosyltransferase; NMK, nucleoside monophosphate kinase; PEP, phosphoenolpyruvate; PK, pyruvate kinase; PPase, pyrophosphatase; Pyr, pyruvate; SSEA, stage-specific embryonic antigen; UDP-Gal, uridine 5'-diphosphogalactose; UDP-Glc, uridine diphosphoglucose.

Transglycosylation with transglycosidases or phosphorylases is another practical method for glycosidic bond formation. Phosphorylases are highly specific toward donor substrates, yet they demonstrate relaxed acceptor specificity. As they are cheap and robust, phosphorylases have been adopted to the industrial synthesis of certain simple di- and trisaccharides (61, 62).

SYNTHESIS OF GLYCAN TARGETS

Having reviewed the basic principles of chemical and enzymatic methods of oligosaccharide synthesis, in this section we discuss the scope and limitations of the methods available for synthesizing naturally occurring glycoconjugates that are immediately related to human physiology.

Glycosaminoglycans

The GAGs are essential polysaccharides that mediate numerous processes in multicellular organisms and certain microbes that have adopted GAGs as a part of their host mimicry. GAGs are



Synthetically relevant mechanisms of the oligosaccharide transformations with GHs and GSs. (*a*) The catalytic site of retaining GHs contains two amino acid residues, with one acting as an acid or base (Glu or Asp) and the other as a nucleophile (Glu or Asp, sometimes Tyr). (*b*) Removal of the nucleophilic site in artificial GSs prevents hydrolysis of the product. (*c*) Substrate-assisted retaining GHs can be used for hydrolysis or synthesis with activated oxazoline donors. (*d*) Application of *endo*-GHs and GSs for the glycan remodeling of RNase (59). Abbreviations: Asp, aspartic acid; Endo, endoglycosidase; Gal, galactose; GH, glycosyl hydrolase; GlcNAc, *N*-acetylglucosamine; Glu, glutamic acid; GS, glycosyl synthase; Man, mannose; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; RNase, ribonuclease; Tyr, tyrosine.

widely distributed in the extracellular matrix and on the cell surface; they bind to a variety of proteins and participate in regulating blood coagulation, cell proliferation, differentiation, adhesion processes, and cell–pathogen interactions. Composed of repeating disaccharide units (GlcA-HexN or Gal-GlcNAc), GAG chains are subject to further modifications that increase their structural diversity and substantially complicate the synthesis of these macromolecules (**Figure 5***a*). Compared with other polysaccharides, heparin and heparan sulfate (HS) are regarded as the most challenging synthetic targets, as they display all possible modifications: *O*-sulfation, *N*-deacetylation and *N*-sulfation, and C₅-epimerization of D-glucuronic acid (GlcA) to L-iduronic acid (IdoA) (63, 64). During the biosynthesis of HS, installation of *N*-sulfated glucosamine (GlcNS) residues in heparosan is crucial for starting a cascade of the sequential modifications catalyzed by C₅-epimerase (65), 2-*O*-sulfotransferase (2-OST), 6-OST, and 3-OST (66). Incomplete conversions of the sulfation reaction and reversibility of the epimerization step result in structural heterogeneity in GAGs. At the end, modifications are dispersed throughout the polysaccharide chain, creating highly sulfated domains (so-called NS domains) separated from unmodified domains (or NAc

Heparosan:

[GlcAβ1,4-GlcNAcα1,4]_n is the unmodified backbone of heparin



(*a*) Examples of naturally occurring polysaccharides: HA and HS (GlcNAc-GlcA repeating units), CS and DS (GalNAc-GlcA), and KS (GlcNAc-Gal). Except for HA, other polysaccharides contain domains with different modification patterns: *O*-sulfations (present in CS, DS, and HS), C₅ epimerization (DS, HS), and *N*-sulfations (HS). In vivo sulfation of GAGs is the result of the synergistic action of STs and sulfatases. Polysaccharide chains of CS, DS, and HS are bound to a protein core (Ser) through a conserved glycan sequence. KS is linked through conserved oligosaccharide sequences to either Asp (KS I), Thr (KSII), or Ser (KS II, KS III). (*b*) Synthesis of HA with regeneration of nucleotide–phosphate donors. (*c*) Polymerization of oxazoline disaccharides with hyaluronidase. (*d*) Enzymatic synthesis of homogeneous heparin oligosaccharides. Abbreviations: Asn, asparagine; CS, chondroitin sulfate; DS, dermatan sulfate; Fuc, fucose; GAG, glycosaminoglycan; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; GlcA, D-glucuronic acid; GlcNAc, *N*-acetylglucosamine; HA, hyaluronic acid; HS, heparan sulfate; KS, keratan sulfate; Man, mannose; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; Ser, serine; ST, sulfotransferase; Thr, threonine; UDP-Glc, uridine 5'-diphosphoglucose; Xyl, xylose.

domains) by transitional mixed NAc and NS sections. The biological activity of HS resides in the densely functionalized NS domains and can be attributed to charge-based, nonspecific interactions, and modification-specific and domain-specific interactions (67). Remarkably, the sulfation pattern of HS is an important factor in the regulation of embryonic stem cell (ESC) fate. Although nonsulfated HS is characteristic of pluripotent stem cells and their self-renewal ability, highly sulfated HS is associated with ESC differentiation. Several studies have shown the possibility of neural cell generation from mice ESCs in the presence of GAG probes (68–70). However, the precise sulfated epitopes, the mechanisms involved in ESC differentiation, and the production of specific cell lineages are still largely unknown and call for systematic study involving structurally defined GAGs and human ESCs, as the required oligosaccharide epitopes may vary among species.

Methods of GAGs synthesis can be divided into two categories: (*a*) cost-efficient methods of GAG production for the therapeutic applications and (*b*) modular methods, which can provide access to all possible structural variations of GAGs for the structure–activity relationship (SAR) study (71). Because biological functions are predominantly defined by the sulfation pattern of a side chain and not by the protein core, the task of synthesis is usually reduced to the production of polysaccharide chains with desired modifications. The majority of commercial methods are based on extraction of GAGs from animal tissues; however, this approach gives heterogeneous samples with broad molecular mass distributions, and the samples may be contaminated with harmful entities (such as prions or pathogens). These liabilities could be alleviated by preparing GAGs in bacteria, as is the case for the microbial production of HA (72).

The established methods for the synthesis of structurally defined GAGs include GT-mediated polymerization with uridine 5'-diphosphate sugar donors with a nucleotide regeneration system (**Figure 5***b*) (55), hyaluronidase-mediated polymerization of the oxazoline donors (**Figure 5***c*) (73), and stepwise synthesis with GTs. The last approach is particularly useful for preparing densely functionalized oligosaccharides, as illustrated by the synthesis of ultralow molecular weight heparins (**Figure 5***d*) (74).

The key features of the process include an optimized order of sulfo-group installations and the selection of hepta- and larger oligosaccharide substrates that are more susceptible to sulfotransferases. Another important issue is epimerization of GlcA to IdoA (**Figure 5***d*, residue D, step b), which is accomplished by meeting the following two criteria: (*a*) for the C₅-epimerase-mediated transformation of GlcA to IdoA (residue D) to take place, the adjacent sugar at the nonreducing end has to be GlcNS (residue C); and (*b*) in order to ensure the irreversibility of the epimerization step and lock the IdoA structure, the sugar (residue A) that is three residues upstream of GlcA has to be GlcNAc (and not GlcNS, GlcN, or absent) (75). Further reaction optimization using mammalian enzymes and scale-up, with the incorporation of the 3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-phosphosulfate regeneration cycle into the enzymatic reaction (52, 54), may lead to improved commercialized processes. Chemical methods can provide hexa- and smaller oligosaccharides (76).

A cost-efficient approach toward developing structurally defined GAGs employs alterations and modifications of polymers produced in vivo. The trimming of natural GAGs and subsequent transglycosylation with hyaluronidase provide sulfated domains for synthesizing chimeric GAGs (77). Transglycosylation with *endo*- β -xylosidase permits transfer of the entire GAG chain (78). Although transfer onto the serine residue of a selected peptide remains challenging, alkyne-modified GAGs obtained by this method have been used to synthesize neoproteins and other glycoconjugates. Multivalent artificial scaffolds (dendrimers, polymers, and glycan arrays) decorated with short oligosaccharides have been used as probes to study GAG function. Recent reports have shown that brush-like synthetic polymers carrying the disaccharide epitopes of CS-E, HS, or heparin could mimic the biological activities of natural proteoglycans (68, 69, 79).

Glycoproteins

Glycoform: a homogeneous form of a glycoprotein

Microheterogeneity: a diversity of glycans associated with a single glycosylation site

Macroheterogeneity (occupancy): refers to nonregular glycan expression at possible glycosylation sites Glycosylation is one of the most common post- and cotranslational modifications of proteins, which affects protein structure, function, stability, trafficking, and receptor recognition. Static modifications of the membrane-bound and secreted proteins by glycosylation create elaborated oligosaccharide structures (N- and O-glycans), whereas dynamic modification regulates cytosolic and nuclear proteins by adding and removing O-GlcNAc. More than half of all human proteins are estimated to be glycosylated by the competitive actions of approximately 200 genome encoded GTs (not including other carbohydrate-modifying enzymes), resulting in the formation of multiple glycoforms with distinct pharmacological profiles (80). As a result, controlling the glycosylation state of recombinant proteins becomes extremely important for developing and manufacturing glycoprotein pharmaceuticals (81, 82). From a different perspective, access to glycoproteins with a well-defined, tailored glycosylation state is needed to advance our knowledge of the glycosylation effect on protein folding and pathological conditions associated with aberrant glycosylation. Although defective glycosylation pathways can be directly linked to congenital disorders (83), the relation between abnormal protein glycosylation and glycoproteostasis and associated pathologies is far more complex and requires systematic investigation (84). In this section, we highlight methods of homogeneous glycoprotein synthesis and major challenges related to the issues of N- and O-glycosylation. More focused discussions on homogeneous glycoprotein synthesis can be found in a number of reviews (47, 85, 86). Unlike the situation with GAGs, where the task of synthesis can be reduced to preparing oligosaccharides with specific sulfation patterns, the synthesis of glycoproteins has to address not only the issue of glycan microheterogeneity but also the efficiency of glycan coupling to the carrier molecule and the installation of oligosaccharides at a specific amino acid residue within the polypeptide backbone, that is, macroheterogeneity. Therefore, defining the correct target molecule becomes a significant challenge, and this has inspired the evolution of glycoproteomic techniques and instrumentation.

The diversity of glycan structures is easy to understand by following their biosynthetic transformations (80, 87). The synthesis of N-glycans commences in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), where a lipid-linked oligosaccharide, Glc₃Man₉GlcNAc₂, is transferred en bloc to the acceptor Asn-X-(Ser/Thr) (X \neq Pro) peptide sequences by oligosaccharyltransferase (OST). After removal of the two terminal glucose residues, the GlcMan₉GlcNAc₂-associated polypeptide undergoes chaperone-guided protein folding, a series of transformations that is part of the protein quality control system (80, 88). The correctly folded proteins are then transferred to the Golgi apparatus for further structural modifications. Universal to all cells, the ER machinery produces the stem region of the N-glycan, which is trimmed down to the conserved Man₃GlcNAc₂ sequence in the cis-Golgi, also the location of initiation of O-glycan biosynthesis. The final microheterogeneity of N- and O-linked glycans is a result of the biosynthetic pathways that take place in the rest of the Golgi compartments. The expression and localization of the competing GTs, which have overlapping acceptor preferences, and the availability of glycoprotein substrates and activated sugar donors directly affect the final composition and heterogeneity of oligosaccharide sequences. Although the theoretical number of possible structural variations is high, the LacNAc (hybrid and complex glycans) and mannose (Man) (oligomannose-type glycans) residues are the most commonly observed units in the eukaryotic oligosaccharide sequences. Termination of glycan biosynthesis often occurs by sialylation or fucosylation. In addition to asparagine and serine (or threonine) glycosylations, other less common protein modifications include C-mannosylation, among others (89).

As one may expect, the manufacturing of many biopharmaceuticals, including glycoproteins, is carried out in mammalian systems, mainly Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell lines, which employ



Examples of the most abundant mammalian oligosaccharide sequences found in glycoproteins. (a) N-linked glycans consist of the conserved core (Man₃GlcNAc₂) and elongated branches. Elongating units of the complex-type N-glycans can contain the sequences of LacNAc, LacdiNAc, and neoLacNAc and are usually terminated by an α -linked sialic acid or fucose. (b) Examples of N-glycosylation pathway engineering for recombinant protein production. (c) Examples of inhibitors of GTs for production of recombinant proteins enriched with a specific glycoform. Abbreviations: CHO, Chinese hamster ovary; DMJ, deoxymannojirimycin; Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; GlcNAc, N-acetylglucosamine; GT, glycosyltransferase; LacNAc, N-acetyllactosamine; Man, mannose; Neu5Ac, N-acetylneuraminic acid.

human-like glycosylation pathways (90). The control over the *N*- and *O*-glycosylation states of proteins in mammalian cells is performed by using a combination of standard techniques: gene mutation, knockout, and pathway inhibition (**Figure 6b**) (47, 81). In a recent study, a comprehensive knockout screen of glycosyltransferase genes with zinc-finger nucleases was performed to identify key glycogenes and to design a matrix for genetic manipulation of protein *N*-glycosylation in CHO cells, including introducing human-like α 2,6-sialylation (91). New precision genome editing methods, such as the CRISPR/Cas system, are expected to become effective tools for producing the desired glycoforms of recombinant proteins.

Major progress has been made in producing proteins with controlled sialylation of glycan structures, predominantly with *N*-acetylneuraminic acid (Neu5Ac) and not *N*-glycolylneuraminic acid (Neu5Gc), which is immunogenic in humans (92), and production of afucosylated recombinant glycoproteins via concurrent deletion of *fut8* and inhibition of the GDP-fucose substrate

Erythropoietin (**EPO**): a glycoprotein that stimulates production of erythrocytes and is widely used as a treatment for anemia generation pathway (**Figure** *6b*). Inhibition of GTs represents a well-established approach for preparing glycoproteins with altered glycoforms. Some of the classical examples include the use of imminocyclitols, deoxymannojirimycin, and kifunensine as α -mannosidase I inhibitors for the in vivo synthesis of high-mannose-type glycoproteins (**Figure** *6c*) (7). More recent cases include the use of $3-F^{ax}$ -Neu5Ac and 2-F-Fucose (Fuc) inhibitors of sialyl- and fucosyltransferases for remodeling cell-surface glycans (93). In another study, 2-F-Fuc and 2-alkynyl-Fuc inhibitors were used to produce fucose-free monoclonal antibodies in CHO cells (94).

Glycoengineering in yeast (95) and bacterial cultures (96) can improve cost-efficiency of biologics synthesis and prevent potential cross-contamination with mammalian-borne infections (**Figure 6b**). The most successful adaptation of humanized pathways was achieved for *N*-glycosylation (specifically, for complex biantennary structures) in *Pichia pastoris* strains (97). Unfortunately, creating the humanized *O*-glycosylation pathways in yeast is still problematic. Although the glycoengineering of cell lines may provide a high degree of glycan homogeneity, current processes employed in glycoprotein manufacturing are optimized mostly to minimize safety risks and to eliminate immunogenic sequences.

Optimizing therapeutic effects and identifying the most potent glycoforms can be accomplished by using chemoenzymatic methods, which can deliver glycoproteins in a pure, homogeneous form. For instance, the commercial sample of rituximab, produced in CHO cells, contains more than 50 glycan variations at Asn297 of the fragment crystallizable (Fc) region. Although our knowledge of how different glycoforms affect immunoglobulin G (IgG) function remains limited, some SAR studies have been reported (98). Specifically, removal of the core fucose enhances the anticancer potency of rituximab via improving binding to the Fc γ IIIa receptor (Fc γ RIIIa) (99– 101), thus enhancing the antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). The Wong group (102) has recently demonstrated that the α 2,6-linked sialic acid of the biantennary glycan can also improve antibody interaction with Fc γ RIIIa and Fc γ RIIa and results in the enhancement of ADCC and vicinal effects. In addition, the anti-inflammatory activity of IgG, the desired property of therapeutics targeting autoimmune disorders, is the result of IgG interactions with Fc γ RIIb and correlates with α 2,6-sialylation (103, 104). These studies have led to the identification and preparation of homogeneous antibodies with a common glycan at the Fc region to maximize anticancer, anti-infective, and anti-inflammatory activities (102).

In the case of human erythropoietin (EPO), the link between serum stability and the number of terminal sialic acids in EPO has led to the development of a novel erythropoiesis-stimulating protein, darbepoetin alfa. The improvement in the half-life and dosing regimen for darbepoetin alfa was achieved by increasing the number of sialic acids (from 14 to 22) via the introduction of two additional *N*-glycosylation sites (105). Conversely, asialo EPO has been shown to possess potent neuroprotective activity (106). These examples illustrate the value of a well-defined composition for biologics and highlight the necessity for efficient and reliable methods for homogeneous glycoprotein synthesis.

Synthesis of N-Glycans and N-Glycoproteins

The synthesis of homogeneous glycoproteins encompasses the tasks of oligosaccharide synthesis and ligation of the desired glycan structure to the protein core. Alternatively, oligosaccharides can be directly linked to polypeptide sequences, which can then be assembled by native chemical ligation. Methods of peptide ligation are independent of the glycan's nature and can be applied equally to the synthesis of both *N*- and *O*-linked glycoproteins.

Neither purely chemical nor enzymatic methods can deliver the substantial amounts of material required for developing new and improved therapeutic glycoproteins. However, chemical synthesis can be considerably simplified by incorporating enzymatic steps, for example, late-stage introduction of the challenging linkages, such as $\alpha 2,3$ - or $\alpha 2,6$ -sialylation of the LacNAc branches (57, 58), and core fucosylation (107).

Access to diverse sequences of N-glycans (estimated to exceed 20,000 structures), particularly asymmetrically branched multiantennary structures, is essential not only for glycoprotein synthesis but also for developing new analytical and diagnostic tools. Making complex N-glycans available, especially the structures that are isomeric and nondistinguishable by mass spectrometry, is instrumental for developing new methods of glycan sequencing. In addition, diverse, well-defined Nglycan samples are needed to prepare comprehensive glycan arrays. To achieve these goals, Boons and colleagues (108) reported a general strategy for chemoenzymatic synthesis of asymmetrically branched, complex N-glycans, taking advantage of the orthogonal protection of the branched trimannosyl core and selective modifications of PG-differentiated branches with GTs. In a separate study, a similar strategy was applied to the preparation of a library of biantennary N-glycans (109). However, the modular strategy developed by the Wong group (110) could provide general access to the diverse multiantennary complex and hybrid-type N-glycans (Figure 7a). It utilizes a library of branching units with reducing end mannose, which are synthesized using the chemoenzymatic method, and then chemically transformed into glycosyl fluoride donors for the reaction with the selectively protected Man₃GlcNAc₂ core. The high efficiency of the α 3- and α 6-Man–Man coupling reactions permitted the preparative synthesis of various N-glycans, which were further used to prepare a mixed glycan microarray to enable the detection of heteroligand binding of broadly neutralizing antibodies isolated from HIV-positive patients. This new glycan array method is expected to facilitate the design and development of carbohydrate-based vaccines against HIV-1.

Among other examples is a report describing the synthesis of variously substituted highmannose *N*-glycans using the top-down chemoenzymatic approach. The synthetic high-mannose structures were modified with glucose, galactose, and GlcNAc monosaccharides. These artificial structures were then used as substrates for orthogonal oligosaccharide trimming with GHs, thus generating a library of high-mannose type *N*-glycans (111).

Remodeling of oligosaccharide sequences of recombinant proteins can be readily accomplished in two steps: first, by trimming heterogeneous glycans of a protein to a homogeneous glycoform containing a core glycan or single GlcNAc residue with glycosidases, and, second, by subsequently modifying the homogeneous glycoform with GTs (112) or endo-glycosidases (ENGases) (Figure 7b) (113). Synthesis with ENGases and mutated synthases, coupled with the use of activated oxazoline donors, has become particularly effective for preparing homogeneous glycoproteins and glycopeptides. Advanced by the Wang group (85, 86), this approach has been applied to the synthesis of several notable targets, including the CD52, HIV-I V3 and C34 glycopeptides, and the IgG1 Fc. The last example illustrates the specificity of Endo S, which permits manipulations of the complex fucosylated glycans on IgG targets (114). Despite the generality of the approach, ENGase-mediated synthesis requires the use of 50- to 100-fold excess of the oxazoline donor to achieve high conversions, which makes it expensive and can lead to nonspecific modification of other nucleophilic residues of proteins with oxazoline substrate. Therefore, alternative LGs and enzymatic methods are being investigated, specifically direct protein glycosylation catalyzed by OST (115, 116). Although the use of mammalian OST for in vitro synthesis is difficult due to the complexity and instability of the transmembrane complex, some progress has been achieved using bacterial analogs of OST, a single-subunit PglB from Campylobacter jejuni (96). In a proof-ofconcept study, PglB was applied for in vivo (E. coli) and in vitro synthesis of several glycoprotein targets (117). The challenges that need to be resolved for this method to become practical include



improving the efficiency of synthesis and substrate specificity for human sequences and glycolipid substrates.

The methods discussed above are restricted to native glycoprotein preparations; however, considerable efforts are also being directed toward preparing neoglycoproteins. One notable example is direct glucose (Glc) transfer onto the NXS/T consensus sequence by *N*-glycosyltransferase and subsequent modification of Glc with complex and oligomannose glycans by ENGases (118). Other examples can be subsumed under the tag-and-modify approach (119) in which an oligosaccharide is coupled to activated cysteine, lysine, or unnatural amino acid tags. These methods allow introduction of the desired functionality into the target proteins; although, the problems associated with the immunogenicity of the non-native linkages are usually overlooked. Using artificial glycoconjugates as probes to study multivalent carbohydrate interactions at cell surfaces, however, can provide valuable information (68, 69, 120, 121). Glycocalyx engineering is an emerging technology that employs carbohydrate epitopes covalently attached to the membrane-anchoring unit to study and regulate a specific biological response (3).

A solution to the issue of the macroheterogeneity of glycoproteins with multiple glycosylation sites is de novo synthesis via ligation of peptide sequences (122, 123). The majority of ligation procedures require generation of an activated thioester intermediate, which can be obtained in a stabilized precursor form as an intein-fusion protein through coexpression or as a thioester by solid-phase peptide synthesis (Figure 7c). Glycan installation is carried out at this stage using either enzymatic or chemical methods. The next step involves activation of the thioester intermediate and coupling to the cysteine-terminated glycosylated peptide block (Figure 7d). The native chemical ligation (NCL) method has advanced through the development of new orthogonal PGs for thiols, masked thioesters, and unnatural thiolated amino acids, which after the ligation step can be converted into the native structures. This allows extra flexibility during the design of the synthetic route, as cysteine residues are rare and may be missing at the desired ligation junctions. In many cases, a desulfurization reaction is performed allowing the Cys \rightarrow Ala transformation; however, the Cys \rightarrow Ser transformation has also been reported (124). Unfortunately, these steps require the selective protection of any additional cysteine residues that may be present in the protein. In this regard sugar-assisted ligation provides a convenient way of assembling peptide fragments, particularly with occupied O-glycosylation sites (Figure 7e) (125, 126). Modification of the acetamido moiety of GalNAc or GlcNAc with a sulfhydryl group enables transthioesterification with the peptide thioester, which then triggers the $S \rightarrow N$ acyl transfer to form a peptide bond. During the next step, the thiol auxiliary or the entire monosaccharide unit can be selectively removed. The most attractive advantage of sugar-assisted ligation is its broad sequence tolerance at ligation sites (127, 128).

Perhaps the most impressive example of chemical glycoprotein synthesis is a total synthesis of a homogeneous EPO realized by the Danishefsky group (129). Years of research devoted to this notable target resulted in a number of groundbreaking synthetic methods (130), which may

Figure 7

(*a*) Modular synthesis was used to prepare a library of *N*-glycans and fabrication of mixed glycan arrays on aluminium oxide–coated glass slides for profiling antibodies targeting the HIV-1 virus (110). (*b*) In vitro glycan remodeling and synthesis of homogeneous rituximab (102). (*c*) Generation of activated thioester for peptide ligation. Ligation strategies used for glycoprotein and glycopeptide synthesis rely on thiol-ester-mediated coupling and include (*d*) native chemical ligation, expressed-protein ligation, Staudinger ligation (not pictured), and (*e*) sugar-assisted ligation. Abbreviations: Ala, alanine; Cys, cysteine; Endo, endoglycosidase; Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; GlcNAc, *N*-acetylglucosamine; Man, mannose; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; Ser, serine; SPPS, solid-phase peptide synthesis; Tyr, tyrosine; Val, valine.

Glycocalyx:

an extracellular, negatively charged layer of glycans and glycoconjugates that participates in intercellular processes eventually provide a means to study the effect of a specific glycan on the structure and function of a glycoprotein with multiple glycosylation sites. Other useful techniques include thiol auxiliary-based cysteine-free ligation and protease-assisted ligation (47, 123).

Glycosylated Proteins for Structural Studies

Because the early steps of *N*-glycan biosynthesis are directly implicated in protein folding and quality control during the calnexin–calreticulin cycle in the ER, the *N*-glycosylation-induced effect on protein structure has become the subject of several biophysical studies. Early reports demonstrated the effects of carbohydrate composition on local peptide conformations (131) and modulation of the disulfide bond formation (132). Although the effect of *N*-glycosylation varies from one protein to another, and has to be considered together with the peptide core, some general rules of glycan effects on protein folding and stability can be formulated for simple glycoprotein models.

The cell adhesion and signaling molecule CD2, which is expressed on T lymphocytes and natural killer cells, has a functional 105 amino acid extracellular adhesion domain (hCD2ad), which bears a single glycosylation site at Asn65 in the human homolog, and has no disulfide bonds or proline residues to interfere with the effect of glycosylation on its folding, making hCD2ad a perfect study model. Results of folding experiments have shown that glycosylation of hCD2ad both increased the folding rate (kinetic contribution) and stabilized the folded state (thermodynamic contribution). Comparisons of glycoform samples have suggested that the first GlcNAc residue attached to asparagine is the most important component for structure stabilization. Approximately 3 kcal/mol of thermodynamic stabilization has been attributed to the Man-GlcNAc-GlcNAc trisaccharide, in which the first GlcNAc (Figure 8, part i) contributes two-thirds of the energy, the second and the third sugars (Figure 8, parts ii and iii) of the core trisaccharide provide one-third, and the outer sugars have negligible effects on structure stabilization. The results suggest that the core trisaccharide is sufficient for intrinsic acceleration of folding and stabilization in hCD2ad, and the presence of this trisaccharide as the common and conserved core in all N-linked glycans may not be coincidental (133). Further study of the system has revealed that introducing an aromatic phenylalanine residue at the (i - 2) position to GlcNAc-Asn (i) provided an additional 0.8-1 kcal/mol stabilization (134, 135). A structural study of IgG1 Fc glycoforms has revealed that the transition from hybrid to complex-type glycans increases the stabilization of the Fc structure (136). In a report by the Imperiali group (137), analysis of the kinetic and thermodynamic contributions of N-glycosylation (GlcNAc-GlcNAc) at different sites in the bacterial immunity protein Im7 revealed the effect of glycan on the local conformational preferences of glycosylated sequences. The most prominent stabilizing effect of N-glycosylation has been observed at the compact turn motifs between segments of ordered secondary structures, thus providing an explanation of the preferential expression of N-glycan at the transition zones between different types of secondary structures.

Protein *O*-glycosylation has also been found to affect protein structure, function, and stability. Since the discovery of intracellular protein *O*-glycosylation with β -GlcNAc by Torres & Hart (138), a great deal of effort has been directed toward understanding this biological process (139) and its interplay with the posttranslational phosphorylation of proteins (140). An early study of the *O*-GlcNAc modification of RNA polymerase II demonstrated the importance of glycosylation to protein folding, as observed by nuclear magnetic resonance imaging (141). In a more recent report, *O*-GlcNAc modification at Ser75 of EZH2 methyltransferase was shown to have an essential role in its stability and enzymatic activity. EZH2 methyltransferase facilitates trimethylation of the K27 site of histone H3, resulting in the inhibition of tumor suppression (142).



GlcNAc (*i*) speeds up folding by 0.8 kcal/mol and provides stabilization of the folded structure by 2 kcal/mol; an additional 1.1 kcal/mol comes from GlcNAc-Man (*ii,iii*). Fucose (*iv*) has no effect on protein stabilization. Abbreviations: CNX–CRT, calnexin–calreticulin; ERAD, endoplasmic reticulum–associated protein degradation; GlcNAc, N-acetylglucosamine; Man, mannose.

Synthesis of O-Glycans and O-Glycoproteins

In general terms, O-glycosylation is defined by the addition of oligosaccharide structures (GalNAc, galactose, GlcNAc, mannose, fucose, glucose, or xylose) to the hydroxyl group of amino acids (e.g., serine, threonine, tyrosine, hydroxylysine) (143). More commonly, however, O-glycosylation refers to the mucin-type O-linked α-GalNAc oligosaccharides. Mucins are densely O-glycosylated proteins (up to 70% by mass), which are expressed by mucosal epithelial cells and create a protective mucin barrier in the ocular epithelium and the respiratory, gastrointestinal, urinary, and reproductive tracts. Glycosylated domains (approximately 600-1,200 amino acids) in mucins are rich in serine, threonine, and proline. These long glycosylated domains are separated by shorter nonglycosylated domains (20-70 amino acids). Most mucins are negatively charged due to the presence of terminal sialic acids and sulfated sugars. These bottlebrush-like, firm structures can either extend from the glycocalyx or be secreted as oligomers into the extracellular matrix. The 16 human mucins are divided depending on their biophysical properties: secreted gel-forming, secreted nongel-forming, and cell surface mucins (144). In the healthy state, mucins fulfill an important function by acting as a protective barrier for cells against mechanical damage and infections; they also act as decoys for bacterial adhesins and initiate intracellular signaling pathways in response to pathogen invasion (145). Additionally, O-glycosylated proteins have been shown to play prominent parts in embryonic development, organogenesis, and tissue homeostasis (146). Compared with N-glycosylation, our knowledge of mucin O-glycosylation is surprisingly limited. The lack of defined amino acid consensus sequences combined with the great diversity of O-glycan structures makes mucin analysis and the study of sequencing and SAR extremely difficult, although these issues provide plenty of opportunities for research. Nevertheless, biochemical studies of the enzymes involved in mucin biosynthesis can help to elucidate the apparent complexity and heterogeneity of this class of compounds.

The first step in mucin biosynthesis, the installation of the GalNAc sites, is completed by the successive action of several polypeptide N- α -acetylgalactosaminyltransferases (ppGalNAcTs).



(*a*) Examples of *O*-glycan structures. Conserved cores 1–8 can be elongated or terminated by fucosylation and sialylation. Termination of *O*-glycans with Tn and T (TF) antigens is characteristic of cancerous cells. In the healthy state, *O*-glycans are typically terminated with blood group antigens or, less commonly, with Le and sLe antigens. (*b*) Synthesis of Tn and sialyl Tn glycoforms of the MUC1 peptide. Abbreviations: Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; GlcNAc, *N*-acetylglucosamine; LacNAc, *N*-acetyllactosamine; Le, Lewis; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; sLe, sialyl Lewis; TF, Thomsen–Friedenreich.

Biochemical characterization of ppGalNAcT isoforms and systematic study of their substrate specificities have revealed a complex balance between redundancy and hierarchy within this family of enzymes (147). For instance, ppGalNAcT isoforms 1, 2, and 5 prefer non- and monoglycosylated peptide substrates, and they participate in the initial step of peptide glycosylation. A further increase in glycosylation sites is realized by the middle stage transferases (e.g., ppGalNAcT-3 and -4) that prefer peptides with two GalNAc sites. Yet even a higher glycosylation density is achieved by the action of the late stage ppGalNAcT-10, which prefers substrates with three and four glycosylation sites (148). A particular feature of ppGalNAcTs, which is responsible for their selectivity, is the presence of poorly conserved R-type lectin domains that bind to the preexisting GalNAc sugars and guide the catalytic domain toward distal glycosylation sites. In-depth discussions of the structural features, activities, and differential expression of ppGalNAcTs in healthy and disease states can be found in recent reviews (143, 147).

After its installation, the GalNAc sugar (the Tn-antigen) is further modified by downstream GTs: T-synthase (core 1), C3GnT, C2GnT1, and C2GnT2 (**Figure 9***a*) (149). The generated *O*-glycan cores can be further extended with LacNAc repeats (for cores 2 and 4) or terminated with the blood group antigens and sialic acids. Dysregulation of *O*-glycosylation pathways is related to a number of disorders, mainly cancers, which are usually characterized by overexpression of truncated (Tn, sTn, and T antigens) and overfucosylated structures (Lewis antigens).

Due to the complexity and heterogeneity of the glycan constituents of mucin-type proteins, no attempts at preparing naturally occurring mucins have been reported. However, synthetic nonglycosylated MUC1 peptides and their truncated glycoforms have been extensively studied as tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens for the development of anticancer vaccines (150). In vitro enzymatic synthesis based on the direct glycosylation of a synthetic MUC1 peptide has been also reported (**Figure 9***b*) (151).

In the case of a typical glycoprotein (nonmucin type), *O*-glycosylation sites occur fairly rarely and display relatively short oligosaccharides. Synthesis of such *O*-glycans and glycoproteins can be accomplished by using the chemoenzymatic methods and ligation techniques discussed in the previous sections. If *O*-glycosylation is not essential for the activity of the glycoprotein, it can be substituted with glycoPEGylation (152) or polysialyl modifications (153), which are used to improve the pharmacokinetic properties of glycoproteins.

Glycolipids

Glycolipids comprise another class of glycosylated natural products that have been implicated in the intracellular signaling network and are crucial for the sustainable functioning of multicellular organisms (154, 155). Although disruptions of glycolipid biosynthetic pathways result in only a handful of disorders because many lead to in utero lethality, defects in the *exo*-GHs responsible for glycolipid catabolism are associated with a large number of lysosomal storage diseases (156). In addition, many glycolipids are known tumor-associated antigens (e.g., GM2, GD2, Globo H, SSEA4). Because Globo H, SSEA3, and SSEA4 are expressed in at least 16 different types of cancers but not on normal cells, these antigens are especially promising targets for cancer vaccine development (157) (see the sidebar, Carbohydrate-Based Therapeutic Vaccines Against Cancer).

The structural composition of glycolipids, such as conjugation of a highly polar sugar to the lipid carrier, defines their unique biophysical properties, localization at the membrane surface, and aggregation into glycosynapses and lipid rafts, together with other signaling molecules (e.g., GPI-anchored proteins, transmembrane proteins, receptors, and ion channels). Apart from cholesteryl-glucoside, phosphatidylglucoside, and seminolipid, most mammalian glycolipids use ceramide as a lipid carrier and, thus, are termed glycosphingolipids (GSLs) (**Figure 10***a*). The heterogeneity of GSLs arises both from the glycosyl substituent and the ceramide unit, specifically the fatty acyl group on the sphingosine base, which can be of variable length and saturation and can be modified with hydroxyl substituents. Glycosylation of the ceramide with galactose or glucose gives the two

Glycosphingolipids (**GSLs**): glycosylated lipids in which the lipid part consists of sphingosine modified at the amino group with fatty acyl (C16–C36)

CARBOHYDRATE-BASED THERAPEUTIC VACCINES AGAINST CANCER

The ability of the immune system to discriminate foreign antigens from self-expressed epitopes is exploited in the development of carbohydrate-based vaccines (170, 171). In addition to classical preventive vaccines against human pathogens, therapeutic vaccines are emerging that target cancer cells with altered glycosylation states (172). The most advanced vaccine candidate, GH-KLH-QS21, has been further improved by the new generation GH-DT vaccines with α -galactosylceramide-type (C34) adjuvant (**Figure 10***c*); this has been shown to induce antibody class switch and gave the highest titers of anti–Globo H IgG compared with the GH-KLH-QS21 combination (173, 174). The induced antibodies showed specificity against Globo H, SSEA3, and SSEA4, which are specific to breast cancer and its stem cells, as well as 15 other types of cancer cells. Another study has highlighted the appeal of non-self antigens, that is, a vaccine candidate based on Globo H modified with 6N₃-Fuc induced a robust IgG immune response, much greater than that of the parent unmodified GH-DT conjugate (175). This progress was made possible by the synthesis of Globo H using programmable one-pot (37) and enzymatic methods (56). An historical perspective on the development of the Globo H vaccine can be found in a recent review (176).



(*a*) Examples of lipid structures and GSL series. (*b*) Steps in the chemoenzymatic assembly of starfish ganglioside LLG-3. (*c*) Composition of GH-DT-C34 vaccine candidate. Abbreviations: ChlGlc, cholesterylglucoside; DT CRM 197, diphtheria toxin cross-reacting material 197; EGCase, *endo*-glycoceramidase; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; Glc, glucose; GSL, glycosphingolipid; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; PtdGlc, phosphatidylglucoside.

simplest GSL structures: β -Gal-Cer and β -Glc-Cer. Further modifications of β -Glc-Cer with GTs give rise to several classes of tissue-specific GSLs. Structurally, the most challenging, highly sialylated GSLs—gangliosides—are populated in the nerve cells and represent one of the most intriguing areas for research (158).

Oligosaccharide sequences found in complex GSLs are well established and can be accessed using the chemoenzymatic methods discussed earlier. The Wong group has reported a preparative enzymatic synthesis of Globo series oligosaccharides (**Figure 3***a*) (56), which can be adapted for preparing other classes of complex GSLs. The main difficulty with glycolipid synthesis, however, is associated with the attachment of a water-soluble glycan to the hydrophobic lipid chain. The Withers group engineered several *endo*-glycoceramidase mutants with broad lipid specificity (159). The utility of the *endo*-glycoceramidase method was later demonstrated with the synthesis of starfish ganglioside LLG-3 (**Figure 10***b*) (160). The reported chemoenzymatic synthesis provides a general approach for assembling GSLs. Another prevalent area of research focuses on bacterial glycolipids, which are structurally more complex than their human counterparts. In this regard, the Wong group reported a preparative enzymatic synthesis of bacterial lipid II and analogs in which structurally complex targets were assembled in only two steps from GlcNAc (161).

Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-Anchored Proteins

Many functionally diverse proteins, including hydrolytic enzymes, adhesion molecules, and receptors, can be expressed as GPI proteins. Compared with transmembrane proteins, GPI-anchored proteins maintain greater mobility due to the nature of lipid anchors. The lipid tail that secures a GPI protein at the membrane's surface does not completely extend through the cell membrane, thus permitting a GPI protein to migrate from cell to cell; however, cleavage of the phosphate linkage with phospholipases can release the protein in a soluble form. Apart from being anchoring devices, GPIs have been shown to affect the conformation of the attached protein and the organization of lipid rafts (162). However, the biological significance of GPI anchoring, as well as the correlation between GPI structural variations and their functions, are not fully understood. Access to homogeneous forms of GPIs remains difficult, thus impeding research in that direction. Several chemical strategies for synthesizing the glycolipid have been developed; however, conjugation of the GPI anchor to a full-size protein remains problematic. As a result, there have been no practical methods established for the synthesis of native and homogeneous GPI-anchored proteins. Nevertheless, the synthesis of GPI analogs for the study of their function has been reported and reviewed (162, 163).

The conserved core of most eukaryotic GPIs consists of a phosphoethanolamine linkage, Man₃-GlcN saccharide, inositol, and phospholipid. In humans, additional modifications to the conserved core result in approximately 20 distinct isoforms and may include glycosylation and phosphoethanolamine attachment to the carbohydrate unit, acylation of inositol, and structural variations within the lipid tail (**Figure 11***a*). An even higher level of structural complexity is found among parasitic GPIs, many of which can act as virulence factors or toxins and, therefore, are important targets for the development of antiparasitic vaccines (164).

So far, only chemical methods have been reported for synthesis of structurally defined glycolipid parts of GPIs. Currently, research aims to develop flexible synthetic strategies that will allow access to a wide variety of structures for the SAR study. Synthetic GPI anchors can be coupled to the desired peptide by NCL; however, this requires introducing a cysteine residue at the phosphoethanolamine group (**Figure 11b**) (165, 166). Alternatively, GPI anchors suitable for NCL can be generated by yeast expression of prion proteins bearing a TEV protease cleavage site (167). Another useful procedure for synthesizing GPI-anchored protein analogs uses ligation mediated



Figure 11

(*a*) General structure of GPIs and possible variations (in *red*). Ligation methods used for GPI analog synthesis include native chemical ligation, (*b*) expressed-protein ligation, and (*c*) SrtA-mediated ligation. Abbreviations: Gal, galactose; GalNAc, *N*-acetylgalactosamine; GlcN, glucosamine; GPI, glycosylphosphatidylinositol; Man, mannose; Neu5Ac, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid; SrtA, sortase A.

by sortase A, which relies on the presence of a nonnative LPXTG sorting signal (Figure 11c) (168, 169).

CONCLUSIONS

The many methods developed during the past 25 years have substantially enriched the repertoire of accessible, physiologically relevant oligosaccharides and led to the introduction of new technologies, such as cell-surface engineering (3) and glycan microarrays (177), that have proved useful for addressing the questions posed by fundamental and applied research. Many groups that entered the field with carbohydrate chemistry expertise now incorporate the subject of disease biology into their research, thus ensuring the long and prosperous growth of glycoscience.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The progress of glycoscience directly depends on the availability of structurally defined, homogeneous samples of oligosaccharides and glycoconjugates.
- 2. In the area of chemical synthesis, the goal is to develop simplified and automated methods for preparing designer carbohydrates.
- 3. Priorities for the enzymatic synthesis of glycans and glycoconjugates include expanding the repertoire of GTs and GSs, as well as engineering high-yielding, cost-efficient enzymatic systems.
- 4. The most powerful methods of oligosaccharide synthesis are based on combined chemoenzymatic approaches, which enable fast generation of libraries of glycans for the SAR study.
- 5. Modern methods of glycan synthesis can provide access to many mammalian-type oligosaccharides and some glycoconjugates, particularly glycolipids and homogeneous glycoproteins.

FUTURE ISSUES

- Research in glycoscience revolves mostly around the mammalian glycome; however, deciphering the glycomes of microbes is no less important and should lead to a better understanding of microbiota and discovery of new antibacterial treatments and vaccination regimens.
- 2. With carbohydrate-based vaccines pushing forward the standards of existing cancer treatments, we expect to see more studies that focus on developing structurally defined glycotherapeutics.
- The identification of disease-associated biomarkers, as well as imaging and monitoring of disease-affected glycosylation pathways, will continue to be dominating research areas.
- 4. Systematic SAR studies of glycoproteins should provide an enhanced understanding of the physiology of lysosomal storage diseases and disorders associated with aberrant glycosylation. Perhaps, progress in glycobiology will eventually deliver a solution to human aging, which, among other symptoms, is characterized by an altered glycosylation state.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to the researchers whose contributions were omitted from this review owing to the limitation of space. The National Institutes of Health is acknowledged for financial support (grant number AI072155). We are thankful to Dr. Tsung-I Tsai for helpful discussions and Miranda Loney for proofreading this manuscript.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, et al., eds. 2009. *Essentials of Glycobiology*. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harb. Lab. Press
- 2. Walt D, Aoki-Kinoshita KF, Bendiak B, Bertozzi CR, Boons G, et al. 2012. *Transforming Glycoscience: A Roadmap for the Future*. Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- 3. Hudak JE, Bertozzi CR. 2014. Glycotherapy: New advances inspire a reemergence of glycans in medicine. *Chem. Biol.* 21:16–37
- 4. Wong C-H, ed. 2003. Carbohydrate-Based Drug Discovery, Vols. 1, 2. Weinheim, Ger.: Wiley-VCH
- 5. Bhaskar U, Sterner E, Hickey AM, Onishi A, Zhang F, et al. 2012. Engineering of routes to heparin and related polysaccharides. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 93:1–16
- 6. Verez-Bencomo V, Fernandez-Santana V, Hardy E, Toledo ME, Rodriguez MC, et al. 2004. A synthetic conjugate polysaccharide vaccine against *Haemophilus influenzae* type b. *Science* 305:522–25
- 7. Kiessling LL, Splain RA. 2010. Chemical approaches to glycobiology. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 79:619-53
- Hsu CH, Hung SC, Wu CY, Wong CH. 2011. Toward automated oligosaccharide synthesis. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 50:11872–923
- 9. Boltje TJ, Buskas T, Boons G-J. 2009. Opportunities and challenges in synthetic oligosaccharide and glycoconjugate research. *Nat. Chem.* 1:611–22
- Galan MC, Benito-Alifonso D, Watt GM. 2011. Carbohydrate chemistry in drug discovery. Org. Biomol. Chem. 9:3598–610
- 11. Wang L-X, Davis B. 2013. Realizing the promise of chemical glycobiology. Chem. Sci. 4:3381-94
- 11a. Fisher E. 1902. *Nobel lecture: syntheses in the purine and sugar group*. Nobel Media AB, 2014. http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/chemistry/laureates/1902/fischer-lecture.pdf
- Zhu X, Schmidt RR. 2009. New principles for glycoside-bond formation. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 48:1900–34
- 13. Demchenko AV, ed. 2008. Handbook of Chemical Glycosylation: Advances in Stereoselectivity and Therapeutic Relevance. Weinheim, Ger.: Wiley-VCH
- 14. Seeberger PH. 2015. The logic of automated glycan assembly. Acc. Chem. Res. 48:1450-63
- 15. Yasomanee JP, Demchenko AV. 2013. From stereocontrolled glycosylation to expeditious oligosaccharide synthesis. *Trends Glycosci. Glycotechnol.* 25:13–42
- Ali IAI, El Ashry ESH, Schmidt RR. 2003. Protection of hydroxy groups with diphenylmethyl and 9-fluorenyl trichloroacetimidates—effect on anomeric stereocontrol. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* 2003:4121–31
- Kim JH, Yang H, Park J, Boons GJ. 2005. A general strategy for stereoselective glycosylations. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127:12090–97
- Crich D. 2011. Methodology development and physical organic chemistry: a powerful combination for the advancement of glycochemistry. *J. Org. Chem.* 76:9193–209
- Imamura A, Ando H, Korogi S, Tanabe G, Muraoka O, et al. 2003. Di-*tert*-butylsilylene (DTBS) groupdirected α-selective galactosylation unaffected by C-2 participating functionalities. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 44:6725–28

- Benakli K, Zha C, Kerns RJ. 2001. Oxazolidinone protected 2-amino-2-deoxy-D-glucose derivatives as versatile intermediates in stereoselective oligosaccharide synthesis and the formation of α-linked glycosides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 123:9461–62
- Manabe S, Ishii K, Ito Y. 2006. N-benzyl-2,3-oxazolidinone as a glycosyl donor for selective αglycosylation and one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis involving 1,2-cis-glycosylation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128:10666–67
- Olsson JD, Eriksson L, Lahmann M, Oscarson S. 2008. Investigations of glycosylation reactions with 2-N-acetyl-2N,3O-oxazolidinone-protected glucosamine donors. *J. Org. Chem.* 73:7181–88
- Hsu CH, Chu KC, Lin YS, Han JL, Peng YS, et al. 2010. Highly α-selective sially phosphate donors for efficient preparation of natural sialosides. *Chemistry* 16:1754–60
- Wang CH, Li ST, Lin TL, Cheng YY, Sun TH, et al. 2013. Synthesis of *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup W135 capsular oligosaccharides for immunogenicity comparison and vaccine development. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 52:9157–61
- 25. Chu KC, Ren CT, Lu CP, Hsu CH, Sun TH, et al. 2011. Efficient and stereoselective synthesis of $\alpha(2 \rightarrow 9)$ oligosialic acids: from monomers to dodecamers. *Angev. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 50:9391–95
- Mulani SK, Hung W-C, Ingle AB, Shiau K-S, Mong K-KT. 2014. Modulating glycosylation with exogenous nucleophiles: an overview. Org. Biomol. Chem. 12:1184–97
- 27. Raghavan S, Kahne D. 1993. A one step synthesis of the ciclamycin trisaccharide. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115:1580-81
- Mootoo DR, Konradsson P, Udodong U, Fraser-Reid B. 1988. Armed and disarmed *n*-pentenyl glycosides in saccharide couplings leading to oligosaccharides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 110:5583–84
- Jensen HH, Pedersen CM, Bols M. 2007. Going to extremes: "super" armed glycosyl donors in glycosylation chemistry. *Chemistry* 13:7576–82
- Hsu Y, Lu XA, Zulueta MM, Tsai CM, Lin KI, et al. 2012. Acyl and silyl group effects in reactivitybased one-pot glycosylation: synthesis of embryonic stem cell surface carbohydrates Lc₄ and IV²Fuc-Lc₄. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 134:4549–52
- Douglas NL, Ley SV, Lucking U, Warriner SL. 1998. Tuning glycoside reactivity: new tool for efficient oligosaccharide synthesis. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1998:51–66
- Huang X, Huang L, Wang H, Ye XS. 2004. Iterative one-pot synthesis of oligosaccharides. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 43:5221–24
- Yamada H, Harada T, Miyazaki H, Takahashi T. 1994. One-pot sequential glycosylation: a new method for the synthesis of oligosaccharides. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 35:3979–82
- Wang C-C, Lee J-C, Luo S-Y, Kulkarni SS, Huang Y-W, et al. 2007. Regioselective one-pot protection of carbohydrates. *Nature* 446:896–99
- Francais A, Urban D, Beau JM. 2007. Tandem catalysis for a one-pot regioselective protection of carbohydrates: the example of glucose. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 46:8662–65
- Zhang Z, Ollmann IR, Ye X-S, Wischnat R, Baasov T, Wong C-H. 1999. Programmable one-pot oligosaccharide synthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 121:734–53
- Burkhart F, Zhang Z, Wacowich-Sgarbi S, Wong CH. 2001. Synthesis of the Globo H hexasaccharide using the programmable reactivity-based one-pot strategy. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 40:1274–77
- Plante OJ, Palmacci ER, Seeberger PH. 2001. Automated solid-phase synthesis of oligosaccharides. Science 291:1523–27
- Werz DB, Castagner B, Seeberger PH. 2007. Automated synthesis of the tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens Gb-3 and Globo-H: incorporation of α-galactosidic linkages. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129:2770–71
- Geyer K, Gustafsson T, Seeberger PH. 2009. Developing continuous-flow microreactors as tools for synthetic chemists. Synlett 2009:2382–91
- Jaipuri FA, Pohl NL. 2008. Toward solution-phase automated iterative synthesis: fluorous-tag assisted solution-phase synthesis of linear and branched mannose oligomers. Org. Biomol. Chem. 6:2686–91
- Zhang F, Zhang W, Zhang Y, Curran DP, Liu G. 2009. Synthesis and applications of a light-fluorous glycosyl donor. *J. Org. Chem.* 74:2594–97
- Nokami T, Hayashi R, Saigusa Y, Shimizu A, Liu CY, et al. 2013. Automated solution-phase synthesis of oligosaccharides via iterative electrochemical assembly of thioglycosides. Org. Lett. 15:4520–23

- Yamada K, Nishimura S-I. 1995. An efficient synthesis of sialoglycoconjugates on a peptidase-sensitive polymer support. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 36:9493–96
- 45. Ono Y, Kitajima M, Daikoku S, Shiroya T, Nishihara S, et al. 2008. Sequential enzymatic glycosyltransfer reactions on a microfluidic device: synthesis of a glycosaminoglycan linkage region tetrasaccharide. *Lab Chip* 8:2168–73
- Martin JG, Gupta M, Xu Y, Akella S, Liu J, et al. 2009. Toward an artificial golgi: redesigning the biological activities of heparan sulfate on a digital microfluidic chip. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131:11041–48
- Schmaltz RM, Hanson SR, Wong CH. 2011. Enzymes in the synthesis of glycoconjugates. *Chem. Rev.* 111:4259–307
- Koeller KM, Wong CH. 2000. Synthesis of complex carbohydrates and glycoconjugates: enzyme-based and programmable one-pot strategies. *Chem. Rev.* 100:4465–93
- Wong C-H, Haynie S, Whitesides G. 1982. Enzyme-catalyzed synthesis of *N*-acetyllactosamine with in situ regeneration of uridine 5'-diphosphate glucose and uridine 5'-diphosphate galactose. *J. Org. Chem.* 47:5416–18
- 50. Cai L. 2012. Recent progress in enzymatic synthesis of sugar nucleotides. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 31:535-52
- Ichikawa Y, Lin YC, Dumas DP, Shen GJ, Garcia-Junceda E, et al. 1992. Chemical-enzymatic synthesis and conformational analysis of sialyl Lewis x and derivatives. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114:9283–98
- Burkart MD, Izumi M, Wong C-H. 1999. Enzymatic regeneration of 3'-phosphoadenosine-5'phosphosulfate using aryl sulfotransferase for the preparative enzymatic synthesis of sulfated carbohydrates. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 38:2747–50
- Yu H, Lau K, Thon V, Autran CA, Jantscher-Krenn E, et al. 2014. Synthetic disialyl hexasaccharides protect neonatal rats from necrotizing enterocolitis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 53:6687–91
- Zhou X, Chandarajoti K, Pham TQ, Liu R, Liu J. 2011. Expression of heparan sulfate sulfotransferases in Kluyveromyces lactis and preparation of 3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-phosphosulfate. Glycobiology 21:771–80
- De Luca C, Lansing M, Martini M, Crescenzi F, Shen G-J, et al. 1995. Enzymatic synthesis of hyaluronic acid with regeneration of sugar nucleotides. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 117:5869–70
- Tsai TI, Lee HY, Chang SH, Wang CH, Tu YC, et al. 2013. Effective sugar nucleotide regeneration for the large-scale enzymatic synthesis of Globo H and SSEA4. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:14831–39
- Shivatare SS, Chang SH, Tsai TI, Ren CT, Chuang HY, et al. 2013. Efficient convergent synthesis of bi-, tri-, and tetra-antennary complex type N-glycans and their HIV-1 antigenicity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:15382–91
- Nycholat CM, Peng W, McBride R, Antonopoulos A, de Vries RP, et al. 2013. Synthesis of biologically active N- and O-linked glycans with multisialylated poly-N-acetyllactosamine extensions using P. damsela α-6-sialyltransferase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:18280–83
- Huang W, Li C, Li B, Umekawa M, Yamamoto K, et al. 2009. Glycosynthases enable a highly efficient chemoenzymatic synthesis of N-glycoproteins carrying intact natural N-glycans. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131:2214–23
- 60. Mackenzie LF, Wang Q, Warren RAJ, Withers SG. 1998. Glycosynthases: mutant glycosidases for oligosaccharide synthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120:5583–84
- Nakai H, Kitaoka M, Svensson B, Ohtsubo K. 2013. Recent development of phosphorylases possessing large potential for oligosaccharide synthesis. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 17:301–9
- O'Neill EC, Field RA. 2015. Enzymatic synthesis using glycoside phosphorylases. Carbohydr. Res. 403:23– 37
- 63. Peterson S, Frick A, Liu J. 2009. Design of biologically active heparan sulfate and heparin using an enzyme-based approach. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 26:610–27
- Chappell EP, Liu J. 2013. Use of biosynthetic enzymes in heparin and heparan sulfate synthesis. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 21:4786–92
- Li JP. 2010. Glucuronyl C5-epimerase an enzyme converting glucuronic acid to iduronic acid in heparan sulfate/heparin biosynthesis. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 93:59–78
- 66. Chapman E, Hanson SR. 2012. Sulfotransferases and sulfatases: sulfate modification of carbohydrates. In Carbohydrate-Modifying Biocatalysts, ed. P Grunwald, pp. 329–96. Singapore: Pan Stanford
- 67. Xu D, Esko JD. 2014. Demystifying heparan sulfate-protein interactions. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 83:129-57

- Pulsipher A, Griffin ME, Stone SE, Brown JM, Hsieh-Wilson LC. 2014. Directing neuronal signaling through cell-surface glycan engineering. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136:6794–97
- Pulsipher A, Griffin ME, Stone SE, Hsieh-Wilson LC. 2015. Long-lived engineering of glycans to direct stem cell fate. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 54:1466–70
- Huang ML, Smith RA, Trieger GW, Godula K. 2014. Glycocalyx remodeling with proteoglycan mimetics promotes neural specification in embryonic stem cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136:10565–68
- DeAngelis PL, Liu J, Linhardt RJ. 2013. Chemoenzymatic synthesis of glycosaminoglycans: re-creating, re-modeling and re-designing nature's longest or most complex carbohydrate chains. *Glycobiology* 23:764– 77
- DeAngelis PL. 2012. Glycosaminoglycan polysaccharide biosynthesis and production: today and tomorrow. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 94:295–305
- Fujikawa S, Ohmae M, Kobayashi S. 2005. Enzymatic synthesis of chondroitin 4-sulfate with well-defined structure. *Biomacromology* 6:2935–42
- Xu Y, Masuko S, Takieddin M, Xu H, Liu R, et al. 2011. Chemoenzymatic synthesis of homogeneous ultralow molecular weight heparins. *Science* 334:498–501
- Sheng J, Xu Y, Dulaney SB, Huang X, Liu J. 2012. Uncovering biphasic catalytic mode of C₅-epimerase in heparan sulfate biosynthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287:20996–1002
- Dulaney SB, Huang X. 2012. Strategies in synthesis of heparin/heparan sulfate oligosaccharides: 2000– present. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 67:95–136
- 77. Endo M, Kakizaki I. 2012. Synthesis of neoproteoglycans using the transglycosylation reaction as a reverse reaction of endo-glycosidases. *Proc. Jpn. Acad. B* 88:327–44
- Yamaguchi M, Takagaki K, Kojima K, Hayashi N, Chen F, et al. 2010. Novel proteoglycan glycotechnology: chemoenzymatic synthesis of chondroitin sulfate-containing molecules and its application. *Glycoconj. 7.* 27:189–98
- Oh YI, Sheng GJ, Chang S-K, Hsieh-Wilson LC. 2013. Tailored glycopolymers as anticoagulant heparin mimetics. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 52:11796–99
- Moremen KW, Tiemeyer M, Nairn AV. 2012. Vertebrate protein glycosylation: diversity, synthesis and function. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13:448–62
- Sola RJ, Griebenow K. 2009. Effects of glycosylation on the stability of protein pharmaceuticals. *J. Pharm. Sci.* 98:1223–45
- Datta P, Linhardt RJ, Sharfstein ST. 2013. An 'omics approach towards CHO cell engineering. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 110:1255–71
- Freeze HH. 2013. Understanding human glycosylation disorders: Biochemistry leads the charge. J. Biol. Chem. 288:6936–45
- Hebert DN, Lamriben L, Powers ET, Kelly JW. 2014. The intrinsic and extrinsic effects of N-linked glycans on glycoproteostasis. Nat. Chem. Biol. 10:902–10
- Wang L-X, Amin M. 2014. Chemical and chemoenzymatic synthesis of glycoproteins for deciphering functions. *Chem. Biol.* 21:51–66
- Wang LX, Lomino JV. 2012. Emerging technologies for making glycan-defined glycoproteins. ACS Chem. Biol. 7:110–22
- Marino K, Bones J, Kattla JJ, Rudd PM. 2010. A systematic approach to protein glycosylation analysis: a path through the maze. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 6:713–23
- 88. Helenius A, Aebi M. 2001. Intracellular functions of N-linked glycans. Science 291:2364-69
- Spiro RG. 2002. Protein glycosylation: nature, distribution, enzymatic formation, and disease implications of glycopeptide bonds. *Glycobiology* 12:43R–56R
- Hossler P, Khattak SF, Li ZJ. 2009. Optimal and consistent protein glycosylation in mammalian cell culture. *Glycobiology* 19:936–49
- Yang Z, Wang S, Halim A, Schulz MA, Frodin M, et al. 2015. Engineered CHO cells for production of diverse, homogeneous glycoproteins. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 33:842–44
- 92. Varki A, Gagneux P. 2012. Multifarious roles of sialic acids in immunity. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1253:16-36
- Rillahan CD, Antonopoulos A, Lefort CT, Sonon R, Azadi P, et al. 2012. Global metabolic inhibitors of sialyl- and fucosyltransferases remodel the glycome. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 8:661–68

- Okeley NM, Alley SC, Anderson ME, Boursalian TE, Burke PJ, et al. 2013. Development of orally active inhibitors of protein and cellular fucosylation. PNAS 110:5404–9
- De Pourcq K, De Schutter K, Callewaert N. 2010. Engineering of glycosylation in yeast and other fungi: current state and perspectives. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 87:1617–31
- Merritt JH, Ollis AA, Fisher AC, DeLisa MP. 2013. Glycans-by-design: engineering bacteria for the biosynthesis of complex glycans and glycoconjugates. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 110:1550–64
- Vogl T, Hartner FS, Glieder A. 2013. New opportunities by synthetic biology for biopharmaceutical production in *Pichia pastoris. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 24:1094–101
- Vidarsson G, Dekkers G, Rispens T. 2014. IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. Front. Immunol. 5:520
- Shields RL, Lai J, Keck R, O'Connell LY, Hong K, et al. 2002. Lack of fucose on human IgG1 N-linked oligosaccharide improves binding to human Fcγ RIII and antibody-dependent cellular toxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:26733–40
- 100. Ferrara C, Grau S, Jager C, Sondermann P, Brunker P, et al. 2011. Unique carbohydrate-carbohydrate interactions are required for high affinity binding between FcγRIII and antibodies lacking core fucose. *PNAS* 108:12669–74
- 101. Shinkawa T, Nakamura K, Yamane N, Shoji-Hosaka E, Kanda Y, et al. 2003. The absence of fucose but not the presence of galactose or bisecting *N*-acetylglucosamine of human IgG1 complex-type oligosaccharides shows the critical role of enhancing antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:3466–73
- Lin C-W, Tsai M-H, Li S-T, Tsai T-I, Chu K-C, et al. 2015. Glycan structure on immunoglobulin G for enhancement of effector functions. *PNAS* 112:10611–16
- Anthony RM, Nimmerjahn F, Ashline DJ, Reinhold VN, Paulson JC, Ravetch JV. 2008. Recapitulation of IVIG anti-inflammatory activity with a recombinant IgG Fc. Science 320:373–76
- Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. 2006. Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation. *Science* 313:670–73
- Egrie JC, Browne JK. 2001. Development and characterization of novel erythropoiesis stimulating protein (NESP). Br. J. Cancer 84(Suppl. 1):3–10
- Erbayraktar S, Grasso G, Sfacteria A, Xie QW, Coleman T, et al. 2003. Asialoerythropoietin is a nonerythropoietic cytokine with broad neuroprotective activity in vivo. *PNAS* 100:6741–46
- 107. Serna S, Yan S, Martin-Lomas M, Wilson IB, Reichardt NC. 2011. Fucosyltransferases as synthetic tools: glycan array based substrate selection and core fucosylation of synthetic *N*-glycans. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 133:16495–502
- Wang Z, Chinoy ZS, Ambre SG, Peng W, McBride R, et al. 2013. A general strategy for the chemoenzymatic synthesis of asymmetrically branched N-glycans. *Science* 341:379–83
- Li L, Liu Y, Ma C, Qu J, Calderon AD, et al. 2015. Efficient chemoenzymatic synthesis of an N-glycan isomer library. *Chem. Sci.* 6:5652–61
- Shivatare SS, Chang S-H, Tsai T-I, Tseng SY, Shivatare VS, et al. 2016. Modular synthesis of N-glycans and arrays for the hetero-ligand binding analysis of HIV antibodies. Nat. Chem. 8:338–46
- 111. Koizumi A, Matsuo I, Takatani M, Seko A, Hachisu M, et al. 2013. Top-down chemoenzymatic approach to a high-mannose-type glycan library: synthesis of a common precursor and its enzymatic trimming. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 52:7426–31
- 112. Witte K, Sears P, Martin R, Wong C-H. 1997. Enzymatic glycoprotein synthesis: preparation of ribonuclease glycoforms via enzymatic glycopeptide condensation and glycosylation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 119:2114–18
- Takegawa K, Tabuchi M, Yamaguchi S, Kondo A, Kato I, Iwahara S. 1995. Synthesis of neoglycoproteins using oligosaccharide-transfer activity with endo-β-N-acetylglucosaminidase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:3094– 99
- Goodfellow JJ, Baruah K, Yamamoto K, Bonomelli C, Krishna B, et al. 2012. An endoglycosidase with alternative glycan specificity allows broadened glycoprotein remodelling. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134:8030–33
- 115. Mohorko E, Owen RL, Malojcic G, Brozzo MS, Aebi M, Glockshuber R. 2014. Structural basis of substrate specificity of human oligosaccharyl transferase subunit N33/Tusc3 and its role in regulating protein N-glycosylation. Structure 22:590–601

- Lizak C, Gerber S, Numao S, Aebi M, Locher KP. 2011. X-ray structure of a bacterial oligosaccharyltransferase. *Nature* 474:350–55
- 117. Valderrama-Rincon JD, Fisher AC, Merritt JH, Fan Y-Y, Reading CA, et al. 2012. An engineered eukaryotic protein glycosylation pathway in *Escherichia coli*. Nat. Chem. Biol. 8:434–36
- Lomino JV, Naegeli A, Orwenyo J, Amin MN, Aebi M, Wang LX. 2013. A two-step enzymatic glycosylation of polypeptides with complex N-glycans. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 21:2262–70
- 119. Chalker JM, Bernardes GJ, Davis BG. 2011. A "tag-and-modify" approach to site-selective protein modification. Acc. Chem. Res. 44:730-41
- Paszek MJ, DuFort CC, Rossier O, Bainer R, Mouw JK, et al. 2014. The cancer glycocalyx mechanically primes integrin-mediated growth and survival. *Nature* 511:319–25
- 121. Hudak JE, Canham SM, Bertozzi CR. 2014. Glycocalyx engineering reveals a Siglec-based mechanism for NK cell immunoevasion. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10:69–75
- 122. Unverzagt C, Kajihara Y. 2013. Chemical assembly of N-glycoproteins: a refined toolbox to address a ubiquitous posttranslational modification. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 42:4408–20
- Payne RJ, Wong CH. 2010. Advances in chemical ligation strategies for the synthesis of glycopeptides and glycoproteins. *Chem. Commun.* 46:21–43
- 124. Okamoto R, Souma S, Kajihara Y. 2009. Efficient substitution reaction from cysteine to the serine residue of glycosylated polypeptide: repetitive peptide segment ligation strategy and the synthesis of glycosylated tetracontapeptide having acid labile sialyl-T_N antigens. *J. Org. Chem.* 74:2494–501
- 125. Brik A, Yang YY, Ficht S, Wong CH. 2006. Sugar-assisted glycopeptide ligation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128:5626-27
- 126. Yang YY, Ficht S, Brik A, Wong CH. 2007. Sugar-assisted ligation in glycoprotein synthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129:7690–701
- 127. Payne RJ, Ficht S, Tang S, Brik A, Yang YY, et al. 2007. Extended sugar-assisted glycopeptide ligations: development, scope, and applications. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 129:13527–36
- Ficht S, Payne RJ, Brik A, Wong CH. 2007. Second-generation sugar-assisted ligation: a method for the synthesis of cysteine-containing glycopeptides. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 46:5975–79
- Wang P, Dong S, Shieh J-H, Peguero E, Hendrickson R, et al. 2013. Erythropoietin derived by chemical synthesis. *Science* 342:1357–60
- 130. Wilson R, Dong S, Wang P, Danishefsky S. 2013. The winding pathway to erythropoietin along the chemistry-biology frontier: a success at last. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 52:7646–65
- O'Conner SE, Imperiali B. 1998. A molecular basis for glycosylation-induced conformational switching. *Chem. Biol.* 5:427–37
- Bosques CJ, Imperiali B. 2003. The interplay of glycosylation and disulfide formation influences fibrillization in a prion protein fragment. PNAS 100:7593–98
- 133. Hanson SR, Culyba EK, Hsu TL, Wong CH, Kelly JW, Powers ET. 2009. The core trisaccharide of an N-linked glycoprotein intrinsically accelerates folding and enhances stability. PNAS 106:3131–36
- Culyba EK, Price JL, Hanson SR, Dhar A, Wong CH, et al. 2011. Protein native-state stabilization by placing aromatic side chains in N-glycosylated reverse turns. Science 331:571–75
- 135. Chen W, Enck S, Price JL, Powers DL, Powers ET, et al. 2013. Structural and energetic basis of carbohydrate-aromatic packing interactions in proteins. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:9877–84
- 136. Bowden TA, Baruah K, Coles CH, Harvey DJ, Yu X, et al. 2012. Chemical and structural analysis of an antibody folding intermediate trapped during glycan biosynthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134:17554–63
- 137. Chen MM, Bartlett AI, Nerenberg PS, Friel CT, Hackenberger CPR, et al. 2010. Perturbing the folding energy landscape of the bacterial immunity protein Im7 by site-specific N-linked glycosylation. PNAS 107:22528–33
- Torres CR, Hart GW. 1984. Topography and polypeptide distribution of terminal N-acetylglucosamine residues on the surfaces of intact lymphocytes: evidence for O-linked GlcNAc. J. Biol. Chem. 259:3308–17
- 139. Ma J, Hart GW. 2014. O-GlcNAc profiling: from proteins to proteomes. Clin. Proteom. 11:8
- Bond MR, Hanover JA. 2015. A little sugar goes a long way: the cell biology of O-GlcNAc. J. Cell Biol. 208:869–80

- 141. Simanek E, Huang D-H, Pasternack L, Machajewski T, Seitz O, et al. 1998. Glycosylation of threonine of the repeating unit of RNA polymerase II with β-linked N-acetylglucosame teads to a turnlike structure. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 120:11567–75
- 142. Chu CS, Lo PW, Yeh YH, Hsu PH, Peng SH, et al. 2014. O-GlcNAcylation regulates EZH2 protein stability and function. *PNAS* 111:1355–60
- 143. Schjoldager KT, Clausen H. 2012. Site-specific protein O-glycosylation modulates proprotein processing—deciphering specific functions of the large polypeptide GalNAc-transferase gene family. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1820:2079–94
- 144. Perez-Vilar J, Hill RL. 1999. The structure and assembly of secreted mucins. J. Biol. Chem. 274:31751-54
- Linden SK, Sutton P, Karlsson NG, Korolik V, McGuckin MA. 2008. Mucins in the mucosal barrier to infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* 1:183–97
- 146. Tran DT, Ten Hagen KG. 2013. Mucin-type O-glycosylation during development. J. Biol. Chem. 288:6921-29
- Bennett EP, Mandel U, Clausen H, Gerken TA, Fritz TA, Tabak LA. 2012. Control of mucin-type Oglycosylation: a classification of the polypeptide GalNAc-transferase gene family. *Glycobiology* 22:736–56
- 148. Pratt MR, Hang HC, Ten Hagen KG, Rarick J, Gerken TA, et al. 2004. Deconvoluting the functions of polypeptide N-α-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase family members by glycopeptide substrate profiling. *Chem. Biol.* 11:1009–16
- 149. Ju T, Otto VI, Cummings RD. 2011. The Tn antigen—structural simplicity and biological complexity. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 50:1770–91
- 150. Gaidzik N, Westerlind U, Kunz H. 2013. The development of synthetic antitumour vaccines from mucin glycopeptide antigens. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 42:4421–42
- 151. Sorensen AL, Reis CA, Tarp MA, Mandel U, Ramachandran K, et al. 2006. Chemoenzymatically synthesized multimeric Tn/STn MUC1 glycopeptides elicit cancer-specific anti-MUC1 antibody responses and override tolerance. *Glycobiology* 16:96–107
- 152. DeFrees S, Wang ZG, Xing R, Scott AE, Wang J, et al. 2006. GlycoPEGylation of recombinant therapeutic proteins produced in *Escherichia coli*. *Glycobiology* 16:833–43
- 153. Lindhout T, Iqbal U, Willis LM, Reid AN, Li J, et al. 2011. Site-specific enzymatic polysialylation of therapeutic proteins using bacterial enzymes. *PNAS* 108:7397–402
- 154. Lingwood CA. 2011. Glycosphingolipid functions. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:1-26
- 155. Wennekes T, van den Berg RJ, Boot RG, van der Marel GA, Overkleeft HS, Aerts JM. 2009. Glycosphingolipids—nature, function, and pharmacological modulation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 48:8848–69
- 156. Platt FM. 2014. Sphingolipid lysosomal storage disorders. Nature 510:68-75
- 157. Lou YW, Wang PY, Yeh SC, Chuang PK, Li ST, et al. 2014. Stage-specific embryonic antigen-4 as a potential therapeutic target in glioblastoma multiforme and other cancers. PNAS 111:2482–87
- 158. Schnaar RL, Gerardy-Schahn R, Hildebrandt H. 2014. Sialic acids in the brain: gangliosides and polysialic acid in nervous system development, stability, disease, and regeneration. *Physiol. Rev.* 94:461–518
- 159. Hancock SM, Rich JR, Caines ME, Strynadka NC, Withers SG. 2009. Designer enzymes for glycosphingolipid synthesis by directed evolution. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 5:508–14
- 160. Rich JR, Withers SG. 2012. A chemoenzymatic total synthesis of the neurogenic starfish ganglioside LLG-3 using an engineered and evolved synthase. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 51:8640–43
- 161. Huang LY, Huang SH, Chang YC, Cheng WC, Cheng TJ, Wong CH. 2014. Enzymatic synthesis of lipid II and analogues. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 53:8060–65
- 162. Yu S, Guo Z, Johnson C, Gu G, Wu Q. 2013. Recent progress in synthetic and biological studies of GPI anchors and GPI-anchored proteins. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 17:1006–13
- Tsai Y-H, Liu X, Seeberger PH. 2012. Chemical biology of glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 51:11438–56
- 164. Tsai YH, Grube M, Seeberger PH, Varón Silva D. 2012. Glycosylphosphatidylinositols of protozoan parasites. *Trends. Glycosci. Glycotechnol.* 24:231–43
- 165. Paulick MG, Wise AR, Forstner MB, Groves JT, Bertozzi CR. 2007. Synthetic analogues of glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored proteins and their behavior in supported lipid bilayers. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 129:11543–50

- Becker CFW, Liu X, Olschewski D, Castelli R, Seidel R, Seeberger PH. 2008. Semisynthesis of a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored prion protein. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* 47:8215–19
- 167. Schumacher MC, Resenberger U, Seidel RP, Becker CF, Winklhofer KF, et al. 2010. Synthesis of a GPI anchor module suitable for protein post-translational modification. *Biopolymers* 94:457–64
- Guo X, Wang Q, Swarts BM, Guo Z. 2009. Sortase-catalyzed peptide-glycosylphosphatidylinositol analogue ligation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 131:9878–79
- 169. Wu Z, Guo X, Wang Q, Swarts BM, Guo Z. 2010. Sortase A-catalyzed transpeptidation of glycosylphosphatidylinositol derivatives for chemoenzymatic synthesis of GPI-anchored proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 132:1567–71
- Hakomori S. 2001. Tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens defining tumor malignancy: basis for development of anti-cancer vaccines. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 491:369–402
- 171. Wilson RM, Danishefsky SJ. 2013. A vision for vaccines built from fully synthetic tumor-associated antigens: from the laboratory to the clinic. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:14462–72
- 172. Yin Z, Huang X. 2012. Recent development in carbohydrate based anti-cancer vaccines. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* 31:143–86
- 173. Huang YL, Hung JT, Cheung SK, Lee HY, Chu KC, et al. 2013. Carbohydrate-based vaccines with a glycolipid adjuvant for breast cancer. *PNAS* 110:2517–22
- 174. Hung TC, Lin CW, Hsu TL, Wu CY, Wong CH. 2013. Investigation of SSEA-4 binding protein in breast cancer cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 135:5934–37
- 175. Lee HY, Chen CY, Tsai TI, Li ST, Lin KH, et al. 2014. Immunogenicity study of Globo H analogues with modification at the reducing or nonreducing end of the tumor antigen. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 136:16844–53
- Danishefsky SJ, Shue YK, Chang MN, Wong CH. 2015. Development of Globo-H cancer vaccine. Acc. Chem. Res. 48:643–52
- Rillahan CD, Paulson JC. 2011. Glycan microarrays for decoding the glycome. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 80:797–823